What architectural styles are represented in the Fort Monroe NHL?

Art Deco/Exotic Revival. The Art Deco style was most popular between 1900 through the 1930s. It was applied to architecture, furniture, jewelry, fashion, vehicles, appliances, and other articles.  Art Deco is characterized by geometric forms.  Art Deco architecture often is ornamented with geometric designs and/or motifs borrowed from other, often ancient, cultures, including Assyrian, Egyptian, Japanese, and Mayan.  Three low-key Art Deco/Exotic Revival buildings were built on Fort Monroe between 1934 and 1938.  These are Buildings 28, 57, and 59.  Buildings 57 and 59 have battered (slightly inclined) towers -- an Egyptian revival feature. The massing and front entry ornamental brickwork on Building 28 show Egyptian or Assyrian influence. 
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Building 57— 

Art Deco/Exotic Revival
Beaux Arts.  Beaux Arts architecture dates from about 1885 to 1930.  Beaux Arts buildings are masonry buildings with flat or low-pitched hipped roofs or mansard roofs and symmetrical facades.  Exterior walls typically are ornamented with garlands, shields, or floral motifs and the facades with quoins, pilasters, or columns.  The first story often has rusticated features.  The Beaux Arts buildings on Fort Monroe are Buildings 37, 105, 133, 134, 138, 161, and 163. 
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          Building 105 –Beaux Arts
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Building 138  -- Beaux Arts
Colonial Revival. Colonial Revival buildings have been a popular style since about 1880.  These buildings look to the past for inspiration in architecture, especially from the Georgian and Federal, or Adam, styles.  In cases they are exacting replicas of colonial buildings; in other cases, they are reinterpretations. They may be either of masonry or wood construction. The front door tends to be emphasized through decorative pediments, pilasters, columns, an entry porch, and/or sidelights.  Windows typically have double-hung sashes, with multiple panes in one or both sashes.  In cases where only one sash has multiple panes, the lower sash will be the single pane window. The windows tend to be symmetrical in placement around a central front door.  Roofs may be gabled, hipped, gabled, or gambrel.  Boxed cornices are common.  The buildings at Fort Monroe that are Colonial Revival are Buildings 25, 26, 30, 31, 33, 34, 35, 43, 44, 45, 51, 52, 54, 93, 118, 119, 120, 121, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 141, 142, 171, 186, 187, 188, 191, 192, 193, 194, 195, and 196.  With the exception of Building 171, these are quarters, rather than administrative buildings. They include single homes, duplexes and quadriplexes 

[image: image4.png]



               Building 171 –

               Colonial Revival 
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                                                                                         Quadriplex – Colonial Revival
Single family home — Colonial Revival
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                 Duplexes – Colonial Revival
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Endicott Battery. President Grover Cleveland appointed the “Board on Fortifications or Other Defenses” in 1885.  Secretary of War William C. Endicott was the president of the board, which had Army, Navy and civilian appointees.  The Endicott board was tasked with determining where defensive fortifications should be located along the United States coast and what armaments were needed, as well as developing cost estimates and priorities for accomplishing the work.  Like most of the fortifications recommended by the board, the batteries at Fort Monroe are free-standing structures that were protected on the coastal side by earthen embankments (some of the embankments have been removed), with storage rooms, magazines, with fixed location and disappearing gun emplacements. The batteries are made of reinforced cast-in-place concrete with black painted steel columns and pipe railings.  The Endicott Batteries on Fort Monroe are Battery Gatewood (no building number), Battery DeRussy (Building 212), Battery Ruggles (Building 213), Battery Anderson (Building 214), Battery Church (Building 232), Battery Irwin (Building 233), and Battery Parrott (Building 234).  
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          Battery DeRussy (Building 212)                                     Battery Gatewood
 Federal Style.   The Federal, or Adam, style was popular from 1780 to 1820, but continued in popularity in some localities until about 1840.  Federal houses typically have cornices with decorative moldings, often in a dentil pattern. The front doors often have semi-circular or elliptical fanlights elaborate door surrounds incorporating columns, entry porches, sidelights, and/or decorative moldings. Windows usually are arranged in symmetrical rows both horizontally and vertically, and often are six-over-six double-hung windows with true muntins.   The Federal style buildings at Fort Monroe are Buildings 1, 17, 18, and 50. These were built between 1819 and 1834. These buildings have been renovated and remodeled a number of times. The remodeling has included the addition of connectors between the main house and the detached kitchens on Buildings 1 and 50 and the addition or expansion of porches on all four buildings.

Building, or Quarters, 1 was the first residence built on Fort Monroe. It originally served as the constructing engineer’s home. In 1831 it became the home of the Post Commander, a purpose it served for approximately 55 years. 
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                              Quarters 1 – Federal Style                                                             Quarters 17 – Federal Style
Robert E. Lee lived in one of the four units in Quarters 17 from 1831 to 1834, when he was a Lieutentant of Engineers stationed at Fort Monroe.
Gothic Revival.  Gothic Revival was a popular architectural style between 1840 and 1880.  Gothic Revival buildings can be either masonry or wood. The wood versions are often called Carpenter Gothic. Gothic Revival houses typically have steeply pitched roofs, decorative vergeboards on the gables, and one story porches, often with flattened Gothic arch supports. 

Fort Monroe has one masonry Gothic Revival building -- Building 61, also known as the Perry House -- and one frame building -- Building 166, also known as the Chapel of the Centurion.   The Perry House was built in 1889 as a memorial to Edgar Allen Poe, who served at Fort Monroe from October 1828 to April 1829, under the alias E.A. Perry.   
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 Building 166, Chapel of the Centurion  -- Gothic Revival                           Building 61, the Perry House – Gothic Revival
Building 166, the Chapel of the Centurion, was completed in 1857 and dedicated in 1858.  It is an expanded version of rural church design that appeared in Richard Upjohn’s 1852 book, Upjohn’s Rural Architecture.  First Lieutenant Julian McAllister vowed to construct a church for the post after a near-death experience in an explosion in the ordnance laboratory, which killed two of his companions.  From the time of its construction until 1946, when the Coast Artillery school left Fort Monroe, the Chapel of the Centurion was painted green with red trim—the Coast Artillery School colors. It has been painted white since 1946.  The original windows are believed to have been of a mottled brown and white glass, but most have been replaced with memorial stained glass. Three of the memorial windows were made by Tiffany Studios of New York. 

International Style. The International style was introduced in around 1925 and was most popular in the 1930s, but the style is still in use although rare.  International style buildings typically are asymmetrical buildings with smooth walls and flat roofs.  The windows are usually set flush with the outer wall plane and have no decoration over them. Building 209, constructed in 1943, is the only example of the International style on Fort Monroe and has an irregular hexagon plan.  Most International buildings are stucco, but Building 209 is constructed of whitewashed cast-in-place concrete.  Like many International style buildings, Building 209 has cantilevered projections and ribbon windows on the second and third floors.  The building originally was used as a Military Affiliated Radio Station (MARS), part of the coastal defense system during WWII.  
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                         Building 42 –International Style

Neoclassical.   The Neoclassical style was popular from about 1895 to 1950.  Neoclassical buildings have a center front door with windows symmetrically arranged around it.  The dominant feature of the façade is a full-height porch with a roof supported by classical columns.  Building 42, the post theater, is an example of Neoclassical architecture.
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       Building 42, the Post Theater – Neoclassical

Prairie Style. The Prairie style was most popular between 1900 and 1920.  Prairie style buildings are always two stories or more, and may have one-story wings or porches.  They have low-pitched roofs, usually hipped, but sometimes gabled, with wide, overhanging eaves.  The details of the façade, eaves, and cornices, emphasize the horizontal lines of the building.  They may have symmetrical or asymmetrical plans.  Building 64 is the sole example of the Prairie style on Fort Monroe.  It was built in 1934 by the Public Health Service and served as the quarters for the officer in charge of the Quarantine Station.  The land and the house were transferred to the Army in 1959, when the Quarantine Station closed.  The  Prairie style features of Building 64  have been diminished  by the addition of aluminum siding and of two-story side porch.  
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                                                                  Building 64 – Prairie Style

Queen Anne. Queen Anne buildings typically have asymmetrical facades with partial or full-wrap one-story porches. The roofs are steeply pitched and of irregular shape, with multiple roof planes, but typically with a dominant front-facing gable.  Textured wall surfaces, created by patterned shingles, patterned masonry, cutaway bay windows, and other decorative elements are common.  Queen Anne buildings may be of masonry or frame construction. The Queen Anne style was most popular between 1880 and 1910.  Examples of Queen Anne buildings on Fort Monroe are Buildings 60, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 79, 100, 101, 102, 103, 143, 144, 157, and 158.  Building 60 was constructed by the Coast Guard as the Lighthouse Keeper’s house and later deeded to Fort Monroe.   Buildings 100, 101, 102, and 103 were designed by the architect Paul Pelz. 
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    Building 60 – Queen Anne style                                          Building 69 – Queen Anne style
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              Building 100 – Queen Anne style                             Building 102 –Queen Anne style

Richardsonian Romanesque.  Richardsonian Romanesque buildings typically are masonry buildings with asymmetrical plans, towers, and rounded arches over the windows, porches, and/or doors.   This style was popular between 1880 and 1900. Building 83, built in 1898, is the only example of this architectural type on Fort Monroe.  It was originally a post office.

[image: image23.png]



                         Building 83 – Richardsonian Romanesque
Second Empire:  Second Empire style buildings were popular between 1855 and 1885 and derived from French building trends popular under the reign of Napoleon III (1852-1870), which was France’s Second Empire. The most-defining trait of Second Empire buildings is a mansard roof.   Building 5 was constructed in 1879 as a two-story brick building with a central three-story gable roofed block and two-story wood porches. A third story was added in 1900 and a rear wing was added in 1938.  The wood porches were replaced with brick porches in 1955.  The addition of a third story on either side of the block diminished the tower effect of the central block with the mansard roof. The presence of a tower is typical of about 30 percent of all Second Empire buildings. 
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                          Building 5 – Second Empire

Stick Style.   Stick style buildings were popular from 1860 to about 1890.  Stick buildings typically have steep gable roofs, overhanging eaves with exposed rafter ends or brackets, and decorative trusses at the gable ends.  Stick buildings always have wooden wall cladding, either board or shingles, with decorative patterns of applied stickwork that are raised from the wall plane. The Stick style buildings at Fort Monroe are Buildings 14, 15, 19, 55, 62, and 63. Much of the decorative stickwork has been removed over the years. 
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Building 14 – Stick Style
Third System Fortifications.  The first system of fortifications in the United States was initiated in 1794 and were primarily earthworks, sometimes with timber or stone components.  The second system of fortifications was initiated in 1807. The second system fortifications included masonry forts, masonry-faced earthworks and open batteries.  The third system of fortifications were developed to address flaws in coastal defense that were revealed during the War of 1812.  The third system was initiated in 1816, with the creation of a board of officers who were tasked with the survey of the coastal United States and identification of the types of fortifications and armaments needed at specific locations to adequately protect the country, as well as how to staff the fortifications and communicate among the different fortifications.  The Third System fortification at Fort Monroe is the stone fort, including, but not limited to Buildings 2, 20, 21, 22, 23, 48, the Flagstaff Bastion/Casemate Club, the North Gate, the East Gate, the Postern Gate, and the Boat Launch. 
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                      Main Gate 
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                                                                                         Building 2, Powder Magazine Casemate

                              Flagstaff Bastion-Casemate Club

Vernacular. “Vernacular architectural” is a catch-all category used to classify the buildings that are not architect-designed, are not monumental, are not of a specific style. These are the commonplace buildings, typically built by local tradesmen using locally available materials and their particular skills and limitations in construction techniques. The buildings may reflect the functional needs, ethnic backgrounds, and regional history and geography.  Vernacular buildings may have some elements of specific styles of architecture, like Gothic Revival, that local builders took from pattern books, but deleted elements that were not available locally or that they did not know how to construct and added other elements that conformed to local tastes, thus achieving a building that was different from the original pattern style.  At Fort Monroe, Buildings 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 16, 24, 27, 27A, 39, 46, 47, 49, 53, 56, 73, 77, 80, 82, 84, 85, 86, 87, 90, 92, 105A, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 130, 131, 132, 135, 136, 137, 139, 140, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 159, 167, 182, 204, and T-28 are examples of vernacular architecture. 
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                           Building 27, Old Arsenal Building                                    Building 49, Former Wireless Station 
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                     Building 92, Sewage Lift Station                                        Building 147, Ardon Cooper Hall
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                    Building T-28, Former Servants Quarters                         Building 204, Former Submarine Depot    

                                                                      Examples of Vernacular Architecture on Fort Monroe
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